1989

# Kathryn C. Carleson v. Robert Allan Carleson : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

The Court of Appeals has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §78-2a-3(h)(1953) as amended.

NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS

This is an appeal from a final Order of the Third Judicial District Court in and for Salt Lake County, the Honorable James S. Sawaya, Judge presiding, entered June 27, 1989, denying the Plaintiff's Petition which requested that the Court: modify the Decree of Divorce, increase the amount of child support to be paid by the Defendant and award the Plaintiff the right to claim the minor child of the parties as an exemption for purposes of filing her state and federal income tax returns.

### ISSUES PRESENTED FOR APPEAL

The issues presented by this Appeal are:

1. Did the Court commit reversible error by determining Defendant's income for purposes of child support based on "net disposable income" rather than reviewing Defendant's gross income as required by Utah Code of Judicial Administration, Rule 4-904, the applicable law in effect at the time.

2. Did the Court error by failing to take into consideration as a part of the Defendant's income the Defendant's election to defer income back to the corporation of which he is the primary stockholder.

3. Did the Court error by failing to take into consideration as a change of circumstance the increased cost to support the minor child of the parties because of her medical needs, and did the Court further error by failing to take into consideration the increased needs of the child due to inflation and the child's increase in age since the entry of the Decree of Divorce.

4. Should the Plaintiff be awarded attorney's fees and costs which she has incurred in this matter and which she will incur on appeal because of her need of assistance.

### DETERMINATIVE STATUTES

Statutes which are determinative of the issues in this case are Utah Code Ann. §30-3-5 (1953) as amended, Utah Code of



Judicial Administration, Rule 4-904, and Appendix H, (attached as Exhibits "A" and "B"), and Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 26(e).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. NATURE OF THE CASE, COURSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS,  
AND DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

1. Plaintiff (Appellant) appeals from an Order entered on June 27, 1989, in the Third Judicial District Court by the Honorable James S. Sawaya, entitled "Decree of Modification Relating to Child Support and Other Issues" (attached as Exhibit "C").

2. After two days of trial, the Court below found that the evidence was insufficient to show a substantial change of circumstance warranting an increase of Defendant's child support payments from the February 16, 1984 Decree.

B. STATEMENT OF FACTS  
RELEVANT TO THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The following facts are material to a consideration of the questions presented on this appeal:

1. A Decree of Divorce was entered in this matter on February 16, 1984. (Record, P.35)

2. Paragraph 14 of the Decree states that the Defendant is ordered to pay to the Plaintiff as child support for the minor child of the parties, the sum of \$400.00 per month. (Record, P.39)

3. On July 6, 1988, the Plaintiff/Appellant filed a Petition to Modify the Decree of Divorce alleging, among other things, a change of circumstance as follows:

a. The child of the parties has suffered a medical illness which has resulted in increased costs of care for said child.

b. Due to inflation and the increased age of the child, the costs of caring for said child have increased.

c. The Defendant's income is sufficient to warrant a modification of the Decree of Divorce to require the Defendant to provide more for the support of the parties' child. (Record, P.188-191)

4. The Trial Court received Exhibit "D-2" (attached hereto as Exhibit "D") which is a copy of Defendant's 1984 federal tax return showing Defendant's adjusted gross income for 1984 was \$229,303.00. (Record, P.334)

5. The Court also received Exhibit "P-37" (attached hereto as Exhibit "E") which is a copy of Defendant's 1987 amended Utah state tax return showing Defendant's adjusted gross income for that year was \$232,385.00. (Record, P.334)

6. Defendant's tax return for 1988 was not presented at trial and there was no evidence of Defendant's adjusted gross income for 1988 because the 1988 tax returns were not completed at the time of trial. (Trans. Proceedings, May 3, 1989, P.181, L.1-15)

7. The Lower Court admitted Exhibit "D-14" (a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit "F") which was a schedule of Defendant's "Disposable Income" from 1984 through 1988. (Record, P.334)

8. Counsel for the Plaintiff objected to the admission of "D-14" because the exhibit was based upon documents which the Defendant had failed to produce pursuant to Requests for Production of Documents (Trans., P.171, L.13-P.172, L.2); and upon the grounds that the exhibit was not relevant to the proceedings because it represented "disposable income" and the child support schedule in effect at the time of trial in this matter was based upon gross income. (Trans., P.179, L.9-14)

9. Defendant's expert testified that Exhibit "D-14" was not representative of Defendant's adjusted gross income, and Defendant's expert did not know what Defendant's adjusted gross income was for 1988. (Trans., P.198, L.19-P.199, L.15)

10. The Defendant has voluntarily elected to defer income back to Carleson Cadillac, Inc., to purchase his father's shares in the corporation (Trans., P.135, L.1-P.136, L.2), to meet a 13% increase in the "flooring requirements" of General Motors and to increase his share of ownership in the corporation to a position of principal stockholder, all of which is a voluntary action on the part of the Defendant. (Exhibit "6") The deferred income is accruing dividends for Defendant's future benefit. (Trans., P.137, L.2-19)

11. The Defendant has paid \$400,000.00 and taken a loan of \$350,000.00 to increase his share of ownership in Carleson Cadillac, Inc., from 16% in 1984 to 82% in 1989. Defendant is paying \$4,500.00 per month on the loan. (Exhibits "D-7", "D-8", "D-17", and Trans., P.135, L.11-13 and P.194, L.17-P.195, L.17)

12. The Defendant has elected to return excess profits from the corporation back to the corporation rather than retain them as earnings. (Trans., P.213, L.8-22)

13. The parties' child is now five years older than she was when the Decree of Divorce was entered. (Judicial Notice)

14. Costs of raising the child have increased as a result of inflation and the increased age of the child. (Trans., P.8, L.24-P.18, L.18) The Plaintiff submitted Exhibit "P-26" (which is attached hereto as Exhibit "G") to show the total costs for the Plaintiff to provide for the support of the child is now in excess of \$500.00 per month, not including \$533.00 per month for private school at Rowland Hall. (Exhibit "P-26", Trans., P.14, L.3-P.16, L.16)

15. During February, 1988, the parties' child required significant emergency medical treatment as a result of a blocked intestine which required removal of 50 centimeters of her small intestine. (Exhibit "D-1")

16. As a result of the minor child's medical treatment, the Plaintiff is experiencing increased costs to support the

child for food and medication. (Trans., P.35, L.11-18; P.58, L.11-22; P.71, L.21-P.72, L.8; P.73, L.3-6) In addition, the parties' child now requires therapy to be able to cope with her illness. (Trans., P.80, L.18-22)

17. Dr. Ralston, Defendant's expert, testified that the parties' child may suffer from diarrhea and require medication throughout her minority, possibly for the rest of her life. (Trans., P.56, L.9-16) He also testified that the child's need for food is one and one-half to two times greater than normal. (Trans., P.58, L.11-22)

18. The Petition of the Plaintiff was tried before the Court on April 25, 1989, and on May 3, 1989. (Record, P.333 and 335)

19. The Court entered Findings of Fact following trial as follows:

a. The Defendant's real disposable income has not increased since the entry of the Decree of Divorce but has decreased due to the lack of automobile sales of his business. (para. 1, Findings of Fact) (Record, P.366)

b. That there was no evidence adduced to support the increase of child support. (para. 2, Findings of Fact) (Record, P.366)

c. That the minor child's health is good and her medical prognosis is good. (para. 3, Findings of Fact) (Record, P.366)

d. That the Defendant contributes a greater portion of child support than that of the Plaintiff, and Plaintiff's claim for the award of income tax exemption on the minor child should be denied. (para. 9, Findings of Fact) (Record, P.367)

20. The Court entered a Decree of Modification on June 27, 1989. An Order of Extension of Time to Appeal was entered on July 27, 1989, and Plaintiff filed this Appeal on August 28, 1989. (Record, P.380)

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Trial Court committed reversible error by determining Defendant's income based on "net disposable income" rather than reviewing Defendant's gross income as required by the applicable law in effect at the time. Pursuant to the Utah Code of Judicial Administration, Rule 4-904, Appendix H, the Trial Court was required to make its determination of change in circumstance based upon the gross income of the Defendant.

The Trial Court also erred in failing to take into account as a part of the Defendant's income the Defendant's election to defer income back to the corporation of which he is the primary stockholder.

The Trial Court erred by failing to take into consideration the increased costs of supporting the minor child of the parties incurred by reason of her medical needs as a change

of circumstance and further errored by failing to take into consideration the increased needs of the child due to inflation and the increased age of the child.

The Plaintiff is in need of assistance from the Defendant to meet the requirement of paying her attorneys' fees and costs which she has incurred in this matter and which she will incur on appeal. The Trial Court errored by failing to award all of Plaintiff attorney's fees and further the Plaintiff should be awarded such fees and costs as she may incur in these proceedings.

#### ARGUMENT

##### I.

THE TRIAL COURT'S COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR BY DETERMINING DEFENDANT'S INCOME BASED ON "NET DISPOSIBLE INCOME" RATHER THAN FINDING DEFENDANT'S GROSS INCOME AS REQUIRED BY UTAH CODE OF JUDICIAL ADMINISTRATION, RULE 4-904, APPENDIX H, THE APPLICABLE LAW IN EFFECT AT THE TIME OF TRIAL IN THIS MATTER

##### A.

Legal Standards of Review of Modification of Divorce Decrees.

The standards of review of Trial Courts' granting modification of the Decree of Divorce is: "Defendant must show that the evidence clearly preponderates against the Findings of Fact or that the Trial Court has abused its discretion." Thompson v. Thompson, 709 P.2d 360, 362 (Utah 1985), citing Fletcher v.

Fletcher, 615 P.2d 1218 (Utah 1980); Turner v. Turner, 649 P.2d 6 (Utah 1982). Although the Fletcher case was a direct review of a divorce proceeding, the review by the appellate court of Orders issued in a modification proceeding requires application of similar legal standards. As stated in Fletcher, "On appeal, this Court will not disturb the action of the trial court unless the evidence clearly preponderates to the contrary, or the Trial Court has abused its discretion or misapplied principles of law." Fletcher v. Fletcher, at P.1222 (citations omitted).

Additionally, the Appellate Court has broad powers when reviewing modification Orders. "Under prevailing standards of review, the appellate court may review both the facts and law of matters in equity, such as a request for modification of the Decree." Boals v. Boals, 664 P.2d 1191 (Utah 1983).

A Trial Court must apply a variety of legal standards to the equitable proceeding when considering modification of a divorce decree. Legal principles enunciated by the Utah Supreme Court which are applicable to the modification being reviewed by the Court are: the movant has the burden to show substantial change of circumstance since the Decree that was not originally contemplated within the Decree itself. Woodward v. Woodward, 709 P.2d 393, 394 (Utah 1985); Thompson v. Thompson, supra., at P.362. The party seeking the modification must prove a substantial and permanent change of circumstance necessitating the modification. Kiesel v. Kiesel, 619 P.2d 1374, 1376 (Utah 1980).



B.

Utah Code Ann. §30-3-5(3)(1953) as amended, gives the District Court continuing jurisdiction to make "subsequent changes or new orders" in divorce matters as are reasonable and necessary:

The Court has continuing jurisdiction to make subsequent changes or new orders for the support and maintenance of the parties, the custody of the children and their support, maintenance, health and dental care, or the distribution of the property as is reasonable and necessary.

Appellant filed a Petition for Modification with the Trial Court requesting an increase in child support based upon a change of circumstance, and principally relying on increased medical needs for the child and increased costs to raise the child as a result of inflation and the child's increased age. Plaintiff further alleged increased income on the part of the Defendant.

The Defendant presented to the Court Exhibit "D-14" as evidence of his net disposable earnings, and the Court relied upon those earnings in making a determination that there had been no change of circumstance in the Defendant's income sufficient to warrant increasing child support. The law in effect at the time this matter was tried to the Court, and the law which controlled the determination of income for the purposes of establishing the

appropriate amount of child support to be paid by a noncustodial parent was Utah Code of Judicial Administration, Rule 4-904, Appendix H-II-A-1, which states that the gross monthly income of the natural parents is to be used to determine the appropriate amount of child support to be paid by the noncustodial parent. The Court relied upon the evidence of only Defendant's net income in denying an increase in child support. Such reliance on the part of the Court was error.

The Court further erred by admitting Exhibit "D-14" over the objections of counsel for the Plaintiff. Rule 26(e)(1) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, requires that the identity of every person to be called as an expert witness at trial, and the subject matter and substance of the testimony be disclosed to the opposing party. Defendant failed to meet this requirement, failed to produce documents upon which his expert relied to testify at trial and presented Exhibits "D-14" and "D-15", as charts and graphs of Defendant's disposable income, over Plaintiff's objection. The Court relied on these documents to reach a final determination of Defendant's income. Counsel for Plaintiff also objected to admission of "D-14" and "D-15" on the grounds of relevancy, because the exhibits did not show adjusted gross income as required by the then applicable law for determination of child support. The admission of Exhibits "D-14" and "D-15" was a critical error which resulted in the Court's

reliance on improper evidence to reach its final decision. The Court should have excluded Exhibits "D-14" and "D-15" and should have relied upon the best and most current evidence of Defendant's adjusted gross income, his 1987 tax return (attached hereto as Exhibit "B"), which was admitted at trial as Exhibit "P-37", and showed Defendant's adjusted gross income as \$232,385.00 for that year.

The decision of the Lower Court must be reversed and remanded with instructions to the Lower Court to make a determination of the Defendant's income based upon his adjusted gross income and enter an Order accordingly.

## II.

THE LOWER COURT ERRORED BY FAILING TO TAKE INTO  
CONSIDERATION AS PART OF THE DEFENDANT'S INCOME THE  
DEFENDANT'S ELECTION TO DEFER INCOME BACK TO THE CORPORATION  
OF WHICH HE IS THE PRIMARY STOCKHOLDER

The Defendant is the primary stockholder of Carleson Cadillac, Inc. In his position, the Defendant has elected to defer a substantial portion of his annual income in excess of \$50,000.00 annually, back to the corporation. The Court failed to take into consideration the Defendant's voluntary deferral of income back to the corporation. The net result of the Defendant's voluntary action is to reduce his income by a substantial amount thereby creating the illusion of a reduction of income since the entry of the Decree of Divorce. The Court

erred by giving the Defendant a credit against his gross income even though the income is simply a deferral. The Court should have attributed to the Defendant all of his gross earnings in making a determination of his actual income.

The Utah Supreme Court has held that a Trial Court may consider both the individual and corporate income of a Defendant husband who is the sole shareholder of a corporation when considering income for child support purposes. Garrard v. Garrard, 581 P.2d 1012 (Utah 1978); Christiansen v. Christiansen, 667 P.2d 594 (Utah 1983). The control exercised by Mr. Carleson in virtue of his 82% ownership of the stock of the corporation shows the appropriateness of including the deferred income and further consideration of the corporate tax returns.

This matter should be remanded to the Lower Court with an instruction to consider all of the income of the Defendant when making a determination of his gross income.

### III.

THE COURT ERRORED BY FAILING TO TAKE INTO  
CONSIDERATION AS A CHANGE OF CIRCUMSTANCE THE  
INCREASED COSTS OF SUPPORTING THE MINOR CHILD  
BECAUSE OF HER MEDICAL NEEDS DUE TO INFLATION  
AND THE CHILD'S INCREASED AGE

The Utah Legislature, and Courts of the State of Utah, have unequivocally endorsed the parental obligation of child support as the primary consideration when addressing divorcing parties and their children's rights.

"The Utah Legislature has clearly stated the public policy of the State of Utah is that 'Children shall be maintained from the resources of responsible parents, thereby relieving or avoiding, at least in part, the burden of [support] often borne by the general citizenry through welfare programs.' Citing, Utah Code Ann. §78-45-b-1.1 (1987); Peterson v. Peterson, 74 Utah Adv. Rep. 26, 28 (1988).

As stated in Martinez v. Martinez, 748 P.2d 593, 595 (Utah App. 1988):

"Utah Code Ann. §78-45-3, -4 (1987) established the obligation of both parents to support their children and '[a] child's right to that support is paramount.' Citing, Woodward v. Woodward, 709 P.2d 393, 394 (Utah 1985) 'The Utah Supreme Court continued, 'the Trial Court may fashion such equitable Orders in relation to the children and their support as is reasonable and necessary, considering not only the needs of the children, but also the ability of the parent to pay.'

In Race v. Race, 740 P.2d 253, 255 (Utah 1988), the Court again underscored the importance of the child's rights when it stated:

"Although the awarding of visitation and child support is within the Court's discretion, the Court must consider the child's paramount right to and need for his parents support. (Citation omitted) The Court-Ordered child support is an obligation imposed for the benefit of the children, not the divorcing spouse."

Finally, the Utah Supreme Court in Lord v. Shaw, 682 P.2d 853 (Utah 1984), addressed the broad equitable power of a Trial Court relating to child support:

"In matters concerning the custody and support of children, because of their highly equitable nature, it is appropriate for the Trial Court to take into consideration the entire circumstances in making any order of enforcement of the decree, by contempt or otherwise having in mind his equitable powers, to make any adjustments he may think fair and justified." Lord v. Shaw, at 856.

During the last five years, several factors have significantly increased the cost of supporting the Carleson's minor daughter which the Court failed to consider as a change of circumstance. Since the entry of the Decree of Divorce, the child's age increased by five years. When the Decree of Divorce was entered in this case, the parties' child was only three years old and not attending school. She is now eight years old. She requires daycare which costs \$2.50 per hour (Trans., P.9), and averages \$133.00 per month. (Plaintiff's Exhibit "26") She now requires books, uniforms for school, fees for skating lessons, costs for piano and gymnastic lessons, all as a part of growing up. The Court also failed to consider increased costs of child rearing due to inflation. The Lower Court erred by failing to consider these factors as a change of circumstance. In Naylor v. Naylor, 700 P.2d 707 (Utah 1985), the Court held that the increased age and costs of supporting a child can create a substantial change of circumstance.

During the past two years, the minor child of the parties suffered severe medical problems which have resulted in

needs for increased care as well as increased costs. These factors which effect the costs of caring for the child were not adequately considered by the Court. As a result of her illness, the child now requires continual medications. She also requires counseling and therapy to be able to better deal with her illness. Finally, her illness has resulted in food intake which is one and one-half to two times what is normally expected for a child her age. Again, these factors constitute a substantial change in circumstance such that the Court should have considered these factors and required a greater contribution by the Defendant to the child's support. It should be noted by this Court that the Plaintiff did not allege a substantial change in circumstance in Defendant's income in her Petition, but only that the Defendant's income is sufficient to require that he provide more support for the parties' child because the child now requires increased costs for support as a result of her medical needs, increased age and inflation.

The Lower Court's finding of no substantial change in circumstance should be reversed to direct the Court to enter findings that due to increased costs of caring for the child, these factors must be considered, a change of circumstance must be found and an increase in child support should be ordered.

IV.

THE PLAINTIFF IS IN NEED OF ASSISTANCE FROM THE DEFENDANT TO MEET THE REQUIREMENT OF PAYING ATTORNEY'S FEES AND COSTS WHICH SHE INCURRED IN THE LOWER COURT MATTER AND WHICH SHE WILL INCUR ON APPEAL, THE LOWER COURT ERRORED BY AWARDING PLAINTIFF ONLY \$500.00 OF HER ATTORNEY'S FEES AND COSTS.

The Utah Supreme Court has held that the primary issue to be addressed when awarding attorney's fees is need of the requesting party and the other party's ability to pay; when "need" is established, the requesting party must demonstrate the reasonableness of the fees requested. Beals v. Beals, 682 P.2d 862, 864 (Utah 1984); Kerr v. Kerr, 610 P.2d 1380, 1384 (Utah 1980); Christensen v. Christensen, 667 P.2d 592, 596 (Utah 1983).

In the Beals case, supra., the Court upheld the Trial Court's award of attorney's fees based upon Mrs. Beals' financial need which was demonstrated by the disparity in incomes between Mrs. Beals and Mr. Beals. The Court stated:

"Mrs. Beals' testimony demonstrated her financial need. In the three years previous to the trial, her yearly income averaged only \$6,500.00. Mr. Beals' income was well over \$50,000.00 for those years." Beals v. Beals, at P.864.

Further, the Beals Court addressed the reasonableness of Mrs. Beals' attorney's time involved by reviewing the difficulty caused by the Defendant Mr. Beals.

"The record demonstrates the necessity of the time spent. Throughout the pre-trial state, Mr. Beals consistently refused to cooperate in

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