1989

Kathryn C. Carleson v. Robert Allan Carleson : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Although Kathryn Carleson asserts a plethora of alleged errors committed by the trial court, once her motivation in filing her multitude of petitions and motions for modification is revealed, this case becomes very simple. Kathryn and Robert Carleson, although divorced, had little or no dispute until

Robert Carleson announced his intentions to re-marry and requested that his daughter not only attend the wedding, but participate in the wedding ceremony. Seizing on an unfortunate illness and serious operation required by her daughter Heather, Kathryn Carleson brought her first petition to modify the decree of divorce by eliminating visitation with Defendant until Heather regained her health, a duration that Kathryn Carleson perceived to cover a period long enough to deny Heather's attendance at her father's wedding. The court ordered that visitation (that had been previously and unilaterally terminated by Kathryn Carleson) be restored and that Heather be allowed to attend and participate in Robert Carleson's up and coming wedding. Kathryn Carleson in direct violation of the court order, spirited the child to Vernal, Utah, preventing Heather's attendance at the wedding.

While Robert Carleson and his new bride were on their honeymoon, Kathryn Carleson came to Robert Carleson's home accompanied by a police officer (so she claims) and removed all medicine required for Heather's recuperative period prescribed by her doctors.

After breaking and entering into Robert Carleson's residence, Kathryn Carleson informed all doctors, hospitals and Heather's school that no information be divulged or given to her ex-husband. (Add. Ex. C) (T-229-230)

Kathryn Carleson then hired her third (3rd) attorney to represent her in this matter and filed another petition for modification of the decree. (R.-264-268)

The true motivation behind the filing of her multitude of claims for modification by Plaintiff has been her jealousy of her ex-husband, his remarriage and the hatred of his new wife and family. There was no expert or medical witness who could substantiate Plaintiff's claim that medical illness prevented visitation of the minor child with her father. (R.-99-100) (T.-55) There has been no claim for unpaid medical bills which necessitate, or would at least substantiate, an increase of child support for unpaid medical costs. Plaintiff's claim for increased expenses was not substantiated by any bills, receipts, or memorandum of said expenses.

Kathryn Carleson's plan of attack has been simple, to keep filing claims with the court, and then replace each lawyer after they have failed, with new counsel. She then seeks the same relief through new counsel claiming a change of circumstances (5 attorneys of record as of this date).

ARGUMENT

I.

THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDING THAT PLAINTIFF DID NOT
PROVE A MATERIAL CHANGE OF CIRCUMSTANCES WAS
NOT ERRONEOUS AND MUST BE AFFIRMED

A.

Standard of Review of Modification of Divorce
Decrees and application to existing orders.

Appellant argues that the Standard of Review and its

application to existing orders is governed by Utah Code of Judicial Administration., Rule 4-904, which provides:

(4) Application to Existing Orders: The adoption of these guidelines and any consequent impact on existing child support orders does not constitute a substantial change of circumstances to independently allow modification of an existing order.

It is apparent that even though the Utah State Child Support Schedule Guidelines, which make up appendix H, in some cases, on their face require an increase of child support, the petitioner is still required to show proof of need, increased expenses, or some other showing of a material change in her circumstances before the court can order modification.

Kathryn Carleson failed to introduce any unpaid medical bills or increased costs of care for the minor child, except for a self-serving declaration of estimated costs of her total monthly bills. The trial court stated that the financial need, if any, of Kathryn Carleson could be the effect of her selling of a home given her under the decree of divorce and going into debt by purchasing a more expensive home which necessitated a mortgage. (T.-93)

The Income Tax Returns of Robert Carleson from 1984 (the year of divorce) to 1987 (the last Tax Return available at date of hearing) show no increase in gross earnings.

B.

The Trial Court never made a finding of Robert Carleson's "net" disposable earnings.

Although Kathryn Carleson never reached a position in her case by proving a material change of circumstances, the trial court allowed the introduction of Robert Carleson's Income Tax Return Records between 1984-1987, together with the Utah State Franchise Tax Reports of Carleson Cadillac into evidence. An expert C.P.A. witness was allowed to testify as to the result of his independent audit of Robert Carleson's Tax Returns and advised the court of the effect of Sub Chapter "S" filing on the Robert Carleson individual returns. (T.-183-187) Copies of Defendant's monthly payroll checks were also furnished to the court.

While Kathryn Carleson's income had increased, it was noted that Robert Carleson's financial position had diminished due to the unfortunate decline in automobile sales over the past five (5) years (T.-188) resulting in no substantial change in Robert Carleson's income. Robert Carleson's dealership, in reality, had suffered a \$27,000.00 first quarter loss in 1989. (T-232 C.-21) Such a finding is almost identical to the finding of no change of circumstances in financial position affirmed by this court in Porcos v. Porcos, 79 Ut. Adv. Rep. 35, (Utah 1988). In that case the court made the following finding:

"The record amply supports the trial court's finding that there has been no material change in the parties' circumstances. Although Plaintiff's and Defendant's income have increased, their expenses have increased

proportionately, resulting in no substantial change in their relative circumstances."

The Guidelines contained in Rule 4-904 are promulgated for and appear to work well in cases where the parties are employed and receive a monthly paycheck. In cases where there is self-employment or where one of the parties owns the control of a closely held corporation the Guidelines provide:

A. Income

(b) Self-Employment: In general income, and expense for self-employment, or operation of a business shall be carefully reviewed to determine the appropriate level of gross income available Specifically, only those expenses necessary to allow the business to operate at a reasonable level should be deducted from gross receipts.

Add. Exhibit D, clearly shows that Defendant's gross income was adjusted to reflect the directive of Rule 4-904, only subtracting expenses necessary for the continuation of the business. The court in Add. Ex. E, (T.-179) clearly stated that said Exhibit was admitted only as an indication of gross income for the purpose of determining child support.

II.

THE TRIAL COURT MUST ADJUST GROSS INCOME
UNDER RULE 4-904 CODE OF
JUDICIAL ADMINISTRATION

It must be remembered that in order to increase child support, there must first be made a showing of a material change of circumstances. Kathryn Carleson failed to prove this in her case against her ex-husband. Without such proof, the court

didn't need to consider the financial condition of Robert Carleson under Rule 4-904. In other words, Kathryn Carleson must reach first base before she could advance to second. But, in this case, the trial court did receive evidence and make an extensive inquiry of Robert Carleson's financial condition.

The trial record is clear. The trial court received in evidence the following documents:

1. Tax Returns of Robert Carleson, 1984-1987
(Def. Ex. 2,3,4,5)
2. Utah State Tax Returns of Carleson
Cadillac, 1984-1988 (Plaintiff Ex. 33-41)
3. Wage statement from employer and copies
of Robert Carleson's payroll checks. (Def.
Ex. 13)
4. Agreement to establish minimum working
capital of \$521,000.00 (Def. Ex. 6)
5. Promissory Note in favor of GMAC in the
sum of \$350,000.00. (Def. Ex. 8)

which not only gave the trial court a true picture of Robert Carleson's gross income, but also gave the court the evidence it needed to determine what deductions were required to be made from Robert Carleson's gross income to keep the business going.

Robert Carleson testified that he was forced to sign an agreement with General Motors Company to increase his net capital to \$521,000.00 or lose his Cadillac Dealer Franchise. (Add. Ex. F) (T.-170) In order to increase capitalization, the Board of

Directors of Carleson Cadillac Co., passed a resolution to disburse only enough corporate earnings to pay the "Sub Chapter S Taxes" placed on the personal income tax of the shareholders of the corporation, (Def. Ex. 12). This additional capital became not an asset of the Defendant's corporation, but a fixture and inventory required to be maintained in order to secure General Motor's continued supply of new automobiles.

Rule 4-904 A(1)b provides:

1. Gross monthly income.

(b) "Gross monthly income from self-employed or operation of a business is defined as gross receipts minus minimum necessary expenses required for business operation..... Specifically, only those expenses necessary to allow the business to operate at a reasonable level should be deducted from gross receipts."

Expenditures to pay corporate taxes and increase capitalization of a business under threat of losing its automobile franchise because of under capitalization are certainly such necessary expenses under the aforementioned section.

Plaintiff's argument that Defendant failed to supplement his answers to interrogatories with the name of his expert C.P.A. witness is without merit, due to the fact Plaintiff never submitted any such interrogatory. Actually, all witnesses names and all trial exhibits were furnished to Plaintiff's counsel before trial. (Add. Ex. J.)

III.

THE PLAINTIFF FAILED TO PROVE A MATERIAL CHANGE OF
CIRCUMSTANCES DUE TO HER CHILD'S MEDICAL NEEDS,
AGE, OR INFLATION.

Kathryn Carleson's self supporting declaration of increased expenses (Pl. Ex. 26) was not supported by any contemporaneous documentation or evidence. Kathryn Carleson, in her deposition taken the 7th day of February, 1989, (Add. Ex. G), stated:

Q. Do you have any expenses (Mrs. Carleson) as far as care for Heather?

A. For Heather's Health Care?

Q. Yes.

A. No, Bob takes care of that all medical needs.

Doctor Charles Ralston, an expert witness from the University of Utah Medical School, refuted the argument of increased medical and food costs claimed by Plaintiff by stating that the need for medicine and increased food intake will decrease as Heather matures and self regulates herself. (T.-56) (T.-58)

Health care, medical and dental insurance are all provided by Robert Carleson under the original decree. (R.-33)

The trial record is completely devoid of any evidence or claim of unpaid school health, medical bills or expenses not covered or reimbursed by Robert Carleson.

While Kathryn Carleson in Exhibit 26 (Ex. G. Appellant's Brief) claimed expenses of \$150.00 per month for tuition, she

produced no proof or evidence of payment of the same. The record clearly showed Robert Carleson paid the regular school year tuition, including school lunch fees. (T.-72)

While Kathryn Carleson in the same Exhibit claimed \$133.50 per month in unreimbursed child care expenses, claimed only \$188.00 for the total year in her last tax return filed with the court. (T.-91) (Add. Ex. H.)

The trial court record is equally devoid of any testimony or evidence of the effect of inflation on child support. Rule 4-904 App. H) requires that a request for child support increase be substantiated by supporting financial verification.

IV.

THE TRIAL COURT'S AWARD OF \$500.00 FOR ATTORNEY FEES,
WAS MORE THAT REASONABLE CONSIDERING THE
CIRCUMSTANCES AND EQUITY

"Statute awarding attorney fees in divorce-related action was first passed 1889, and remains substantially the same today. The Statute vests discretion in the trial court to determine if fees may be awarded in original divorce action, in divorce appeals, and in actions to modify decrees. Fees may be awarded to either the prevailing or non-prevailing party.

In deciding whether to award attorney's fees in divorce action, the Utah Courts consider the financial situation of the parties and the equities of that particular case." Utah Law Review, Vol 1984, No. 3, also see Grammer v. Grammer, 587 P.2d

144-149, (Utah 1987).

Kathryn Carleson is not broke. She is a highly paid paralegal employed by a large Salt Lake City law firm. Her salary has increased over 40% from the time of the divorce. (T.-89)

Financial need was not presented to the trial court, but Judge Sawaya determined the "equity" required an attorney's fee of \$500.00.

Considering the complete disregard of previous court orders of the trial court, the multitude of frivolous petitions and motions filed by Kathryn Carleson, and her complete lack of success in court, the court plainly saw "little or no equity" in her legal position.

The transcript of trial and the record are without supporting testimony or evidence of attorney's fees incurred by the Plaintiff.

V.

SANCTION FOR FRIVOLOUS APPEAL

Plaintiff Kathryn Carleson has continuously harassed the Defendant Robert Carleson through the repeated threat of civil actions, violation of court orders, denial of visitation, forcing her way into his residence and showing a complete disregard of the Law of this State.

Her appeal in this matter is without merit and taken with no

reasonable likelihood of prevailing.

This court in the case of Porcos v. Porcos, 79 Ut. Adv. Rep. 35 (Utah 1988) has recognized the merit of sanction in similar cases, and Defendant respectfully requests the court to consider such sanctions.

CONCLUSION

At some point in time, Plaintiff should understand that her emotional involvement in this case completely distorts the factual merits of her arguments. Robert Carleson's financial condition has worsened due to added requirements of additional business capital and lackluster automobile sales. Robert Carleson has faithfully paid his child support since his divorce, he has paid an exorbitant amount of medical, hospital and health care bills, together with private school tuition at Rowland Hall. His contribution to child support exceeds the Child Support Guidelines of Rule 4-904. (Add. Ex. I) A message must be delivered by this court to Kathryn Carleson and the five (5) previous counsels she has employed, that further efforts to harass and prevent Defendant from seeing his daughter will not be tolerated.

It is respectfully requested that Kathryn Carleson's appeal be dismissed and Defendant awarded all costs and attorney's fees as sanctions.